IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,376

ALAMO RENT-A-CAR, INC.,

Petitioner.

vs.

MICHAEL MANCUSI and STATE OF, FLORIDA,

Respondents.

On Petitions For Discretionary Review From The District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District.

MICHAEL MANCUSI,

Cross-Petitioner,

ALAMO RENT-A-CAR,

Cross-Respondent.

PETITIONER ALAMO RENT-A-CAR, INC.'S <u>INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS</u> (With Separately Bound Appendix)

> WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON By: G. BART BILLBROUGH Attorneys for Petitioner/Cross-Respondent One Biscayne Tower, 25th Floor 2 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-6411

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc., seeks this Court's review of the April 22, 1992 opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. <u>Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Mancusi</u>, 599 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). This Court has jurisdiction because the opinion below expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. Article V, Section 3(b)(3), <u>Fla. Const.</u> (1980); <u>Fla.R.App.P.</u> 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

The Petitioner, Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc., was the Defendant in the trial court, the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to as the Petitioner, the Defendant, or as "Alamo".

The Respondent, Michael Mancusi, was the Plaintiff in the trial court, the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to in this brief as the Plaintiff or by name.

Respondent State of Florida became a party to this lawsuit when it intervened in post-trial proceedings to seek a portion of a punitive damage award pursuant to § 768.73(2), Florida Statutes. This party will be referenced as the Intervenor or the State of Florida.

References to the record and appendix will be designated by the letters "R" and "A", respectively.

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

In order to develop a full understanding of the legal issues raised by both sides in this case, it is necessary to understand not only the case's complex underlying facts, but its procedural history as well. Simply stated, it is important to understand both what was said and when the statement was made. In light of the foregoing, Alamo presents the following detailed statement of the case and facts:

In his amended complaint, the Plaintiff, Michael Mancusi, sued Defendants Edward McArdle and Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc. (R. 1029-1034). According to that pleading, the Plaintiff entered into an automobile rental agreement with Alamo on July 15, 1986 for a twenty-eight (28) day period, but the contract itself reflected that the agreement was for a period of only one week, which would have made the car's return due on July 22, 1986. The Plaintiff further alleged that the car was subsequently listed in Alamo's overdue filing system and that a warrant issued for the Plaintiff's arrest, even though Alamo had the Plaintiff's local telephone numbers and addresses. According to the Plaintiff, the Defendants failed to conduct a proper and thorough factual investigation prior to referring the overdue vehicle to the police for handling. McArdle, it was alleged, was an Alamo employee.

In Count I, the Plaintiff sued both Defendants for malicious prosecution. The Plaintiff asserted that the

-2-

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

Defendants falsely accused the Plaintiff of criminal conduct in the State's prosecution of the Plaintiff for failure to return a hired vehicle, a third degree felony violation of § 817.52, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, in the case of <u>State of Florida v. Michael Mancusi</u>, Seventeenth Judicial Circuit Case No. 86-13706-CF. The Plaintiff further contended that the criminal proceedings, which ultimately resulted in a nolle prosequi, were maliciously instituted by the Defendants. As a result, the Plaintiff sought damages.

In Count II, the Plaintiff sued the Defendants for negligence. According to the allegations in Count II, the Defendants owed a duty of reasonable care under the automobile rental agreement and breached that duty by failing to ensure that the Plaintiff understood the terms of the rental agreement; failing to ascertain whether payment had been made for the use of the rental vehicle before issuing a warrant and instituting a criminal complaint; failing to contact the Plaintiff prior to issuance of the complaint; and failing to make a reasonable determination as to whether Plaintiff had been granted an extension on his rental period. The Plaintiff had been proximately caused harm. (R. 1029-1034).

After the Defendants denied the material allegations in the amended complaint, a jury trial was conducted before the Honorable Robert Lance Andrews, Circuit Court Judge of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida

-3-

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

on July 23 through 27, 1990, solely as to Defendant Alamo on the malicious prosecution claim.¹

The Plaintiff's first witness was Howard Jaffe, the Plaintiff's criminal defense attorney. (R. 261-295). Mr. Jaffe advised the jury that the Plaintiff had been charged with a violation of Section 817.52, Florida Statutes, which provides that:

> Failure to Deliver Hired Vehicle ---Whoever, after hiring a motor vehicle under an agreement to redeliver the same to the person letting such motor vehicle or his agent, at the termination of the period for which it was let, shall, without the consent of such person or persons and with intent to defraud, abandon or willfully refuse to redeliver such vehicle as agreed shall, upon commission, be guilty of a felony of the third degree[.]

Mr. Jaffe also described the various stages in a criminal proceeding and told the jury about the kind of professional services which are rendered by a criminal defense attorney. (R. 264-267). After describing his services and his unsuccessful attempts to convince the assistant state attorney that the State did not have a case, Mr. Jaffe said the matter proceeded to trial. In the midst of trial, however, Mr. Jaffe testified that the State announced it was no longer going to prosecute the charges against the Plaintiff and dismissed the case. (R. 296-298). Mr. Jaffe concluded his testimony by

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

¹ Prior to trial, the Plaintiff abandoned all claims against Edward McArdle and the negligence claim against Alamo was dismissed. (R. 3; 1211-1212).

describing the Plaintiff's mental condition during the time criminal charges were pending. (R. 299).

In the midst of Mr. Jaffe's testimony, an issue arose concerning whether the State's dismissal of its criminal case At a sidebar had been part of a negotiated bargain. conference, the defense argued that the dismissal by the State was not a bona fide termination of the criminal proceedings, an element of any civil malicious prosecution action, because the negotiated dismissal included a number of conditions and required restitution to Alamo, which was reflected in the lawyer's bill that the Plaintiff placed in evidence. The defense wanted to cross-examine the Plaintiff's criminal defense lawyer to show those terms and conditions. (R. 283-284). In fact, the defense proffered Mr. Jaffe's testimony, which showed that the repayment of certain sums to Alamo was a substantial condition of the State's negotiated nolle prosequi. (R. 293-295).

The trial court, however, denied the request. Initially, the court stated that the evidence was not admissible during the Plaintiff's case, but instead could come in during the defense's proof. (R. 284-285). The court also stated that the defense could not prove the reasons for the State's dismissal of the criminal case without testimony of the assistant state attorney who in fact dismissed the prosecution. (R. 287-292). Ultimately, the court stated that proof of the negotiated dismissal would not be permitted without first obtaining the

-5-

testimony of the assistant state attorney who made that decision. (R. 292; 301-302).

The next witness at trial was Anita Howard, Alamo's corporate representative. Ms. Howard provided testimony concerning the automobile rental process and the interplay of the computer system. The witness described the contents of each computer screen and how information is imputed into the computer system. (R. 308-312).

With regard to oral extensions of rental contracts, which the Plaintiff said had been granted for a period of weeks, Ms. Howard stated that a contract period would be extended up to 48 hours under unusual circumstances and that vehicles were rented twenty-eight (28) days under for no more than any (R. 312-313). In the event that an extension circumstances. was requested, a contract number would have to be provided to an Alamo representative, the contract pulled up on the computer and notations made of the additional revision screen, information. (R. 313-315). Once such a revision is made, prior information is not deleted. The revision is simply noted in the computer file. (R. 315).

Evelyn Penker, an Alamo administrative clerk, was also called to testify by Plaintiff at trial. (R. 343). According to this witness, Alamo spends the first ten (10) days after a car becomes overdue attempting to make contact with the customer involved. Depending upon workload, efforts to contact customers are to be repeated. (R. 350-351). With regard to

-6-

Mr. Mancusi's overdue vehicle, Ms. Penker said that she made two attempts to contact Mr. Mancusi herself and had been unsuccessful after his car became overdue. (R. 355-356). On the issue of oral extensions of rental contracts, Ms. Penker also stated that they were not permitted and that customers were requested to make any revisions or extensions in person. (R. 361). The witness did state, however, that in "extreme emergencies", a telephone extension may be given. (R. 361).

Linda Gibbons was the Alamo rental agent for the In taking down his Plaintiff's car. (R. 377-390). information, Ms. Gibbons copied the Plaintiff's name from his driver's license, but spelled his last name "M-A-N-C-U-S-A." The car was rented from July 15, 1986 to July 22, 1986. (R. Payment was secured by the credit card of Veronica 381). Cronin, the Plaintiff's friend. (R. 381-382). Ms. Gibbons took down the Plaintiff's address, his place of employment, his work telephone, his home telephone, and his local place of On the issue of telephonic rental extensions, Ms. stav. Gibbons testified that one could be secured by providing a rental agent with the contract number. When such extensions were requested, the rental agents would obtain another credit approval from the credit card company. (R. 382-384).

Desiree Feciskonin also was a rental agent for Alamo. Ms. Feciskonin testified that an oral extension of a rental contract could have been secured in 1986 so long as the driver's credit card would approve an extension and provided

-7-

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

that the maximum rental was not more than 28 days. To obtain an extension, the agreement number would have to be provided to the agent and a new time and date for return entered into the computer. (R. 429-431).

Ms. Feciskonin further testified that her files reflected the vehicle's due date as July 22, 1986. (R. 424). According to office procedure, rental agents attempt to contact the customer when a vehicle becomes overdue. If no contact is received from the customer, a demand letter is sent. (R. 426-436). In the instant case, the files reflected a number of attempts to contact the Plaintiff before the demand letter was sent on August 1, 1986. (R. 434-437).

The demand letter still did not result in any contact by the Plaintiff and, upon the witness learning that there were no new developments, the car was placed "on warrant", which meant that it was reported to the police. In the instant case, the Plaintiff's overdue vehicle was reported to the Ft. Lauderdale Police on August 13, 1986. (R. 437-438).

On August 27, 1986, Ft. Lauderdale Police Department Detective Charles Bay contacted Ms. Feciskonin and advised her that he had a local address for the Plaintiff and had spoken with him. Detective Bay told Ms. Feciskonin that the Plaintiff had been told to contact Alamo and that the Plaintiff seemed like a "nice guy". (R. 440-441).

On or about that same date, Ms. Feciskonin received a telephone call from the Plaintiff, who was asking for a "Mr.

-8-

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

Desiree." According to Ms. Feciskonin, she told the Plaintiff that she was the only Desiree in the office. At that point, the Plaintiff began screaming and yelling that Ms. Feciskonin had no right to put the Plaintiff's vehicle on warrant and that his credit card would hold any charges. The Plaintiff told Ms. Feciskonin that he could keep the car as long as he wanted. The witness believed the Plaintiff lost his temper when he found out she was a woman. (R. 442-446). Ms. Feciskonin, upset that the customer was screaming at her, did not get any information from the customer as to the whereabouts of the overdue car. (R. 448).

The Alamo files indicated that the Plaintiff called Alamo again on the evening of August 27, 1986. At that time, the Plaintiff told Alamo representatives where the car was located, that the car had mechanical difficulties and that the car could be retrieved. (R. 449-450).

Ms. Feciskonin's testimony concluded with her explaining that she was the one who took the car off warrant after it was towed in by Alamo. (R. 452-455). Ms. Feciskonin stated she never took a position about whether the Plaintiff should be arrested and, in fact, had no knowledge that the Plaintiff had in fact been incarcerated. (R. 447-449). According to this witness, Detective Bay contacted her, inquired if Alamo had received its car, and wanted to know if Alamo would be pressing charges. Ms. Feciskonin had no input in the decision and

-9-

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

simply gave him the Alamo corporate department's telephone number. (R. 464-466).

Edward McArdle, another Alamo employee, testified that his office location was separate from the rental offices. When a car becomes overdue and rental agents have been unable to establish contact with the customer, Mr. McArdle becomes involved. (R. 467-480). It was Mr. McArdle's responsibility to send the demand letters. (R. 488).

Upon receiving the request for a demand letter in this case, Mr. McArdle reviewed the rental contract, determined that there had been no revisions, and checked to make sure that the rental agents had attempted to contact the customer. He then sent a certified letter to the customer's contract address and requested that the customer get in touch with Alamo concerning the overdue vehicle. (R. 505-507). The demand letter was sent by certified mail on August 1, 1986, and was signed for approximately a week later. When the receipt was returned to his office, Mr. McArdle reviewed his file again to determine if there had been any change in circumstances and, noting none, the rental location was advised to report the car as missing with the police. (R. 506-507).

On or about August 27, 1986, Detective Bay called Mr. McArdle and asked if the Plaintiff's overdue vehicle had been returned. Mr. McArdle reviewed the file information, discerned that the car had been retrieved, and noted that the Plaintiff did not physically return the car. (R. 513-515). Detective

-10-

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

Bay was advised that Mr. Mancusi himself did not bring the car back and that it was towed in by Hal's Towing Service. (R. 515). According to Mr. McArdle, Detective Bay "wasn't particularly happy with that." (R. 515).

The next contact that Mr. McArdle had with Detective Bay was when Bay called and advised that he needed an affidavit on Mancusi. (R. 515). Mr. McArdle met with the detective a few days later and executed a criminal complaint affidavit. According to the witness, it was his understanding that the State was doing the prosecuting and that Alamo was merely a witness. When a police officer called and stated an affidavit was needed, the witness felt compelled to provide it. (R. 523; 532). The witness stated that there was no relationship between any encounter the Plaintiff had with Ms. Feciskonin and the prosecution of the Plaintiff. (R. 518; 522).

Detective Charles Bay also presented testimony at trial. (R. 1421-1498). Detective Bay, assigned to stolen vehicle division, first became involved on August 27, 1986. After several demanding telephone calls from the detective, the Plaintiff told the detective that the car would be returned immediately. The Plaintiff told Detective Bay that he had trouble with the car. (R. 1432).

On the next day, Detective Bay contacted Alamo and learned that the car had been retrieved. In speaking with Mr. McArdle, the detective stated that Mr. McArdle expressed a willingness to sign the necessary papers to file charges. (R. 1437-1438).

-11-

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

When Mr. McArdle and Detective Bay ultimately met on September

3, 1986, the following affidavit was executed:

This contract was due to be returned on 7/22/86. This vehicle was not returned as scheduled. Numerous phone calls were made in an attempt to obtain the return of our car with no results. On 8/1/86, we sent a demand letter via certified mail. The letter was signed for on 8/13/86. The customer did not respond to the instructions in the letter. It was our that he had no intention of belief returning the car and that without the intervention of the police, we would still not have our car.² (A. 1).

On September 16, 1986, Detective Bay made contact with the Plaintiff to get his version of events. (R. 1481). The Plaintiff agreed to accompany the police officer to the station to discuss the Alamo matter. (R. 1482). Upon arriving there, the detective and the Plaintiff entered an interview room and the Plaintiff was read his rights. (R. 1485). At the conclusion of the reading, the Plaintiff stated he wanted to speak to his attorney. The detective then placed the Plaintiff under arrest and put him through the booking procedure. (R. 1485-1486).

According to the detective, he was not compelled to make an arrest once Alamo had completed its affidavit. Additionally, the detective testified that the state attorney's office also had discretion on the issue of whether or not to

² Mr. McArdle's reference to August 13, 1986 as the certified mail's signing date was incorrect. The actual signing date for receipt was August 8, 1986.

prosecute. (R. 1487). The detective thought he had probable cause to arrest. (R. 916).

The Plaintiff was the last witness in the Plaintiff's case. On July 15, 1986, the Plaintiff and Veronica Cronin visited Alamo to rent a car. (R. 608-610). Ms. Cronin had previously telephoned Alamo and reserved a car for a period of one week. When they arrived, the rental agents were busy and the Plaintiff had to wait for approximately 45 minutes before getting his car. (R. 609).

When the rental contract was filled out, the Plaintiff gave the agent the correct spelling of his name, his New York driver's license, and both New York and Florida telephone numbers. (R. 607-608). The Plaintiff also provided the agent with a business address. (R. 609). Payment for the vehicle was secured on Ms. Cronin's credit card. (R. 692-693). When the Plaintiff was notified that his car was ready, he initialed the car return date of July 22, 1986, the week's rental rate of \$211.73, and signed for the car. (R. 694-696). According to the Plaintiff, he simply initialed and signed the contract without reading it. (R. 695). As far as the Plaintiff was concerned, he thought the car had been rented for one month. (R. 609).

The Plaintiff testified that he received a telephone call from his father on August 8, 1986. His father said that he had received a letter from Alamo, that there was a problem with the car, and that the Plaintiff should take care of it. (R. 612).

-13-

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

Rather than contact Alamo at the number given on the letter, the Plaintiff telephoned the local Alamo office and spoke with an agent. The Plaintiff gave his name, said that there was "apparently a problem" regarding his car, and advised the agent that he was under the impression that the rental was for a onemonth period. (R. 612). After being put on hold, the agent returned and advised the Plaintiff that there was no problem and that the credit card would hold the rental for that period of time. The Plaintiff testified that he heard the rental agent typing the information into the computer. When the agent advised him that he was "re-upped," the conversation was concluded. The Plaintiff did not get the rental agent's name. (R. 611-614). According to the Plaintiff, he was not requested to fill out additional paper work.

On August 27, 1986, the Plaintiff was contacted by Detective Bay. When the detective advised the Plaintiff that he was driving a "hot car", the Plaintiff said there must be some mistake because Alamo had the Plaintiff's contact numbers, an open credit card, and the car had been "re-upped". Detective Bay advised the Plaintiff to contact Ms. Feciskonin, who had put the car on warrant. (R. 612-614).

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