D.A. 5-3-93

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALAMO RENT-A-CAR, INC.,

Petitioners/Cross Respondent,

v.

+\_

БŲ H SID J. APP 1993 5 K, SUPREME COURT **C**1 Вy Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 80,376

MICHAEL MANCUSI,

Respondent/Cross Petitioner,

# ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS AND BRIEF ON MERITS SUPPORTING CROSS PETITION BY MICHAEL MANCUSI

JOHN BERANEK Florida Bar No. 005419 Aurell, Radey, Hinkle & Thomas 101 North Monroe Street Suite 1000 -- Monroe-Park Tower Post Office Drawer 11307 Tallahassee, FL 32302 904/681-7766

and

WALTER G. CAMPBELL Krupnick, Campbell, Malone & Roselli 700 S. E. Third Avenue Suite 100 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33316

####

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court granted review on both the Alamo petition and the Mancusi cross-petition. Under the cross-petition Mancusi/plaintiff seeks reversal of the District Court opinion and reinstatement of the trial court's judgment. In this malicious prosecution case, the jury heard and determined all issues including the question of whether there had been a bona fide termination of the underlying The court's instructions on bona fide criminal prosecution. termination were not raised on appeal. The fact that Mancusi paid the \$365 to Alamo as the unbilled balance on the rental car was before the jury and they considered it under the unchallenged instructions on bona fide termination. Even though the trial judge expressed his view that a nolle prosequi after jeopardy was a bona fide termination as a matter of law, the judge did not direct a verdict and instead submitted the issue to the jury under proper instructions.

Mancusi's proof in his case-in-chief established a prima facie case of malicious prosecution because he showed a nolle prosequi which was not based on restitution. The payment to Alamo was simply money Mancusi had always agreed to pay and tried to pay but obviously could not pay before he had the slightest idea that he owed it. There was never any issue or disagreement concerning payment of the full rental bill and payment of that bill did not constitute restitution as a matter of fact or law.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal found error suggesting that three items of evidence were wrongly <u>excluded</u>. The testimony of the prosecuting attorney was not excluded because it was never

offered except by telephone. The District Court erred in finding that this telephone testimony was admissible. There was also no error in the exclusion of the criminal transcript nor in the exclusion of the testimony from the criminal defense lawyer. The transcript was not admissible without explanatory testimony from the state attorney. In any event, the transcript and the testimony of defense counsel as proffered, were helpful to Mancusi rather than to Alamo because this evidence showed that the \$365 payment had absolutely nothing to do with the crime charged; failure to return the car. Since the District Court was in error as to all three pieces of evidence, the appeal should have been an affirmance rather than a reversal and the judgment should be reinstated.

Under its petition Alamo suggests that the District Court reverse the burden of proof as to bona fide termination. This argument is based upon <u>Liu v. Mandina</u>, <u>supra</u>, which states that it is the defendant's burden in a summary judgment context to establish that the nolle prosequi was solely the result of restitution. <u>Liu</u> did not affect this case because Mancusi did not pay restitution as a matter of law or fact. Alamo has never suggested any theory upon which payment of the bill constituted a compromise or a negotiated payment of restitution. The facts are absolutely uncontested and all of those facts were established in Mancusi's case-in-chief.

The District Court did not reverse the burden of proof on the overall issue of bona fide termination and merely held that once Mancusi established his cause of action by proving a nolle prosequi not based on restitution, then it became Alamo's burden to prove

the contrary if they chose to do so. Obviously Alamo never proved that the nolle prosequi was based on restitution and Alamo did not subpoena nor call the prosecuting attorney who was a crucial witness. Alamo confuses the analysis of civil and criminal cases in the context of malicious prosecution. There was absolutely no bargained for payment in the Mancusi situation because Mancusi had already paid with his credit card and the \$365 payment was totally unrelated to the crime charged.

The evidence showed that Alamo acted in a reprehensible and totally outrageous manner in having Mancusi arrested and prosecuted. There was more than adequate evidence showing an absence of probable cause under the "cautious man" standard. There was also direct evidence that one Alamo employee was extremely angry at Mancusi and may have taken revenge on him and that another Alamo employee intentionally misled the police. There was overwhelming evidence from which this jury could and did find actual malice. Punitive damages were particularly proper in this case and the limitation imposed by § 768.73 was not applicable because tort reform did not apply to malicious prosecution cases and, in any event, Alamo's conduct did not constitute misconduct in a commercial transaction.

Mancusi's cross-petition should be granted and Alamo's petition should be denied. The judgment in the trial court should be reinstated.

#### ARGUMENT ON CROSS PETITION

I.

#### WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING TELEPHONE TESTIMONY TO BE ADMISSIBLE AND WHETHER, IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH TESTIMONY, THE VERDICT AND JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF MANCUSI SHOULD BE REINSTATED.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal ruled that Alamo was entitled to put in the proffered evidence of the testimony of the state Attorney, the testimony of the criminal defense attorney and the transcript of the underlying criminal trial. Mancusi will deal with each of these three pieces of evidence. Obviously, if the District Court was in error as to all three pieces of evidence, then the result should have been an affirmance rather than a reversal. Mancusi will demonstrate that the telephone testimony of the State Attorney was inadmissible and that the absence of this testimony should have also resulted in exclusion of the proffered trial transcript. In addition, exclusion of the transcript and the criminal defense attorney's testimony was at most harmless error. The Fourth District should have affirmed because the trial court's evidentiary rulings were all correct even if for the wrong reason. The District Court found that Judge Andrews erred in concluding that a nolle prosequi after attachment of jeopardy constituted a bona fide termination as a matter of law. However, if the three items of evidence were inadmissible for other reasons apparent on the record and which were also considered by the trial judge, there can be no reversal.

#### Telephone Testimony by the Prosecutor

The testimony of the state attorney was quite obviously inadmissible because he was not present to testify. The Fourth District Court of Appeal has blazed a new trail in holding the trial court in error for not allowing a necessary witness to testify before a jury by telephone. The court specifically found that the jury should have been permitted to hear this telephone testimony. The opinion states as follows:

. . . to determine whether the nolle prosequi indicates the defendant's innocence, the jury should have been allowed to hear the circumstances surrounding the termination of Mancusi's criminal trial, including . . . the proffered testimony of the assistant state attorney who prosecuted the Mancusi's criminal case.<sup>2</sup>

\* \* \*

<sup>2</sup> Alamo requested that it be allowed to offer the testimony of the Assistant State Attorney by phone; however, the trial court denied Alamo's request, allowing counsel for Alamo to proffer this testimony into the record. This proffer included a statement that the nolle prosequi was announced following negotiations with Mr. Mancusi.

During the cross examination of Mr. Mancusi questions came up as to whether his payment of the \$365 could constitute "restitution" destroying the bona fide nature of the nolle prosequi. The trial judge repeatedly stated that he thought the State Attorney was a vital witness because only he knew why <u>he</u> nolle prosequied the case. Defense counsel even agreed that State Attorney Peacock was crucial and the judge continually asked trial counsel whether he intended to call Mr. Peacock. (R.285-90). Clearly, the court, at this early stage in the trial was not telling defense counsel that he would not allow Mr. Peacock to

testify. The judge was saying exactly the <u>opposite</u> and was warning defense counsel that Peacock was an absolutely necessary witness. Even at this point defense counsel did not tell the judge one way or the other whether Mr. Peacock was going to testify. Instead he said "Can't tell you right now judge". (R.298). See (R.285-290] as previously quoted in footnote 2, page 11 herein. In fact, prosecutor Peacock was away on vacation and not under subpoena. Any fair reading of the colloquy shows that the judge would definitely have allowed Peacock to testify had he been presented as a live witness rather than by telephone. (R.285-290).

We will not belabor the point that telephone testimony in a jury trial over objection is inadmissible. Even Alamo does not contend it is really admissible and in its jurisdictional brief simply argued that the District Court of Appeal did not really mean to say that it was proper. Telephone testimony is, as a matter of law, inadmissible. <u>See Baker v. Baker</u>, 388 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); <u>Bush v. Bush</u>, 590 So. 2d 531 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980); <u>Coplan Pipe</u> and Supply Co., Inc. v. Ben-Frieda Corp., 256 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972); <u>Gosby v. Third Judicial Circuit</u>, 586 So. 2d 1056 (Fla. 1991); <u>Outdoor Resorts at Orlando v. Hotz Management Company</u>, 483 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); <u>The Florida Bar Re: Rules of Judicial</u> Administration, 462 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 1985).

The District Court's opinion, on its face, is in plain error in approving the use of telephone testimony and must be reversed no matter what else happens in this case. In short, if prosecutor Peacock had been there live or if his deposition had been taken and

offered, then his testimony could have been presented to the jury. Since he was not there live and his deposition was not offered, the Fourth District should not have reversed based on the <u>exclusion</u> of his testimony. His testimony was never <u>offered</u>; other than by telephone.

The Mancusi case in chief was sufficient without testimony from prosecutor Peacock. Alamo's merits brief argues that:

Mancusi needed to answer one additional question about whether he had participated in securing the dismissal in any way. If Mancusi could answer the question by saying that he had not, that there was no compromise, that there was no negotiated bargain, the prerequisites are met. Mancusi was not asked these questions because he could not give the right answers." (Alamo Brief, p. 27).

Alamo leaves out the fact that Alamo proffered the testimony of Mancusi on this issue. At (R.745), Mancusi testified in response to defense counsel's questions as follows:

Q. (By Mr. Miertschin) Mr. Mancusi, you're down to trial in your criminal case. I believe it's February 1987; is that correct?

MR. CAMPBELL: February 23rd.

Q. February 23rd, 1987.

A. Correct.

Q. At that time was there an agreement reached between the State's Attorney's office and yourself that your repayment to Alamo of \$368.14 or \$364, something in that neighborhood, that in return for that payment, they would - they would do a nolle pros of your case?

A. No.

Q. That was not?

A. That was not part of the nolle pros. Judge Henning said that she was filing a nolle pros. There were numerous phone calls made to Alamo at the time and that was kind of thrown in on top of the paper work at the end. But, originally, Judge Henning told Peacock that she was going to nolle pros the case no matter what.

Clearly, Alamo did not want this testimony before the jury and clearly Mr. Mancusi was capable of giving the "right answers." In his earlier direct testimony Mancusi had stated as follows:

Q. (By Mr. Campbell) We're up to trial. Could you tell these folks what was going through your mind at the time of trial?

A. Well, I was very scared. And I thought if the trial went against me, that I would - I could have a possibility of being thrown in jail.

Q. How was the trial concluded?

A. Judge Henning told Peacock that he worked for the citizens of Florida, not Alamo and to nolle pros the case.

Q. Was the case subsequently nolle prossed?

A. Yes.

Q. That occurred at the end of Bay's testimony or even in between Bay's testimony?

A. It was in between Bay's testimony. (R.671-2).

If Alamo wanted to prove some other <u>real</u> reason in Peacock's mind as to why he dismissed the case, Alamo simply had to call him as a witness. Alamo obviously decided in advance of trial not to call prosecutor Peacock and not to call its own directly involved employee Desiree Feciskonin.

#### The Criminal Trial Transcript

The trial judge and Judge Stone both believed that the criminal trial transcript was not admissible without testimony from prosecutor Peacock. The trial court repeatedly expressed his view to defense counsel that only Mr. Peacock could testify to his own

real reason for the nolle prosequi of the criminal case. The jury was simply not in a position to read a trial transcript to decide what was in the mind of Mr. Peacock. Prosecutor Peacock's testimony as to why he dismissed was the key to the defense and once this element is correctly viewed, the reversal must fall. That transcript by itself did not show Peacock's intent and without that testimony the transcript should not have been admitted.

In addition, exclusion of the trial transcript was at most harmless error because the transcript was really favorable to Mancusi on the bona fide termination issue. The \$365 payment was totally unrelated to the crime charged and Mr. Peacock made this abundantly clear in the trial transcript. He argued this over and over again and excerpts from the transcript and further discussion of this point are contained in the argument section under Alamo's Point I hereafter. In short, Mr. Peacock's position was that the money had <u>absolutely nothing</u> to do with the criminal prosecution. He said: "Well, my posture at this point . . . is that civil liability [for the \$365], if there is any, is a question outside the scope of [this] criminal case . . ."

In conclusion under this issue, the criminal transcript was not admissible without the testimony of Mr. Peacock which was of course never properly offered. In addition, the criminal transcript helped Mancusi on the bona fide termination issue showing the money had nothing to do with the crime charged. Exclusion of the transcript from evidence was at most harmless error, if error at all.

#### Testimony of the Criminal Defense Attorney

The testimony of the criminal defense attorney was proffered in two pages. (R.293-4). This attorney agreed that \$365 had been paid and indeed that Mancusi had more than that on deposit with him and that there would be no question whatsoever about the payment. Indeed, there has rarely been a situation where a customer has tried harder to pay a bill. Of course, it is absolutely impossible for a customer to pay what he does not know he owes. It is as though Mancusi laid the full amount of cash on the Alamo counter and Alamo chose to pick up and pocket only one-half of the money and now contends that Mancusi made "restitution" when he subsequently allowed Alamo to have the balance of the cash. Alamo never received anything other than what Mancusi had always offered -- to pay for the rental of the car. The proffer of the criminal defense attorney's testimony indicated that Mr. Peacock intended to nolle prosequi the case in any event. (R.293-4). Exclusion of this proffered testimony was proper or was at most harmless error.

#### POINTS ON ALAMO'S PETITION

I.

#### WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT REVERSED THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON THE MALICIOUS PROSECUTION CLAIM.

The District Court did not reverse the burden of proof and never suggested that the defendant Alamo had the burden of showing the absence of the bona fide termination of the underlying criminal case. Instead, the District Court merely quoted its own prior opinion in <u>Liu v. Mandina</u>, 396 So. 2d 1115 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981)

which holds that <u>after</u> the plaintiff proves that the underlying criminal case was nolle prosequied by the state, <u>then</u> it becomes the burden of the defendant to prove that the nolle prosequi was based on restitution. Of course, the context of the <u>Liu</u> opinion must be examined, it is apparent on the face of that case that there was a dispute between the State Attorney and the defense counsel as to whether the underlying criminal case had been terminated based on restitution. Obviously, there was no such dispute in the present case because the State Attorney was never called to testify.

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